THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

DEC 13 2019

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No.  
2015-CP-10-3550

Appellate Case No. *2019-002031*

Richard Ralph and Eugenia  
Ralph.....Respondents,

v.

Paul Dennis McLaughlin and Susan Rode McLaughlin.....Petitioners.

**PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR  
A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**



G. Hamlin O'Kelley, III  
S.C. Bar No. 15491  
Buist, Byars & Taylor, LLC  
652 Coleman Blvd., Suite 200  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  
(843) 856-4488  
*Attorneys for Petitioners*

Other Counsel of Record:

Ainsley Fisher Tillman

## **III. QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- A. Did the Court of Appeals err in focusing on limited facts in the Record and not on the entirety of the circumstances surrounding the Respondents' decision to build their house on what they fully believed was an abandoned easement as shown on the plat from Forsberg Engineering and Surveying, Inc., and with which the jury agreed and for which there was evidence for them to determine the Respondents justifiably relied and which the jury believed in as demonstrated by the verdict rendered at trial?
- B. Did the Court of Appeals err in expanding the Law of the Case doctrine as set forth in Judge Cooper's June 7, 2016, Order granting summary judgment to the Seabrook Island Property Owners Association which made a determination as to matters distinctly different and not contemplated in that Order and which were ultimately tried before the jury?

## **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The crux of the case below and in this appeal involves a dispute as to an easement on Seabrook Island, South Carolina (A. 1047). The McLaughlins removed that easement and the Ralphs contended the removal led to drainage issues on their property. *Id.* At trial, the jury awarded nominal damages of \$1,000.00. (A 19-21). In October of 2002, the McLaughlins acquired Lot 22 on Baywood Road to the McLaughlins. (A. 1048 -1049) At the time, a new plat had been recorded (the "Forsberg Plat") showing an abandonment of the easement, which, the McLaughlins believed had been accomplished from statement from their sellers, and statements from the Seabrook Island Property Owners Association ("SIPOA") *Id.* Ultimately, the McLaughlins built on their Lot, removing the easement, and going forward with construction with their plans being approved by SIPOA. *Id.* at 1049.

The Ralphs sued the McLaughlins seeking actual and punitive damages for the removal of the drainage easement. (A. 1051, A. 34-49) The McLaughlins answered and filed a third-party Complaint against SIPOA (A. 50-83) SIPOA answered (A. 85-96) Two years later, the Ralphs filed an amended complaint seeking damages for trespass, punitive damages, and emotional distress. (A. 97-106).

After dismissing the matter pursuant to Rule 40(j) SCRCivP and restoring it, ultimately, motions for summary judgment by all parties were heard by the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. (A. 1-2; A. 3-4; A. 5-16) Judge Cooper found there was no evidence to show SIPOA made any promises to the McLaughlins. (A. 12) That Order was not appealed.

Ultimately, the case was tried before the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., from January 23 to January 26, 2017. (A. 22-31).

Judge Young granted a directed verdict to the McLaughlins as to punitive damages and intentional infliction of emotional distress finding that there was not sufficient evidence of willfulness to send those causes of action to the jury. *Id.* Judge Young stated that the Mr. McLaughlin did not believe he was acting malevolently, certainly not to the level of clear and convincing, so he granted the motion for directed verdict. (A. 1053).

The jury deliberated the case for over five hours and returned their verdict for \$1,000.00 in nominal damages. *Id.* The Ralphs filed a motion for a new trial *nisi additur*, or, in the alternative, a new trial as to damages, or, in the alternative, a new trial absolute. *Id.* Judge Young denied those motions in his Order filed March 2, 2017. Appeals followed.

In their Order dated August 21, 2019, the Court of Appeals eviscerated the jury's ruling and Judge Young's Order denying the new trial motions. (A. 1047 – 1071).

## V. ARGUMENT

**Question 1: Did the Court of Appeals err in focusing on limited facts in the Record and not on the entirety of the circumstances surrounding the Respondents' decision to build their house on what they fully believed was an abandoned easement as shown on the plat from Forsberg Engineering and Surveying, Inc., and with which the jury agreed and for which there was evidence for them to determine the Respondents justifiably relied and which the jury believed in as demonstrated by the verdict rendered at trial?**

In October of 2002, the McLaughlins took title to their property by deed which referenced, and incorporated, a Plat by Forsberg Engineering and Surveying, Inc., entitled "Plat Showing Abandonment of an Existing 20' Drainage Easement Lot 22 Block 23 Town of Seabrook Island Charleston South Carolina" dated January 17, 2002 (A. 388; A. 381-386). Both the McLaughlins' predecessors in title and SIPOA informed the McLaughlins that the drainage easement had been abandoned. (A. 757; A. 763-764; A. 766) The Forsberg Plat showed that the easement area had been abandoned. (A. 388)

Some months earlier, on May 20, 2002, the SIPOA Board of Directors took a vote, recorded in their minutes, to abandon the easement not only on Lot 22, but on Lots 21 to 28 on Baywood Drive. (A. 81) SIPOA's Directors

made a motion to give the easement back to the property owner with the understanding that the property owner pay all cost necessary to remove the easement. Mr. Giardino seconded. The motion passed by unanimous vote.

*(Id.)*

Part of the easement was a drainage pipe that ran under Lots 21 to 28 on Baywood Drive. *(Id.)*. The easement as described on the plat from E. M. Seabrook was in favor of the Seabrook Island Property Owners Association and not in favor of the individual Lot owners. (A. 388, A. 22-31; R. A. 547-565). It was SIPOA's easement and SIPOA's to abandon. The McLaughlin's predecessors in title to Lot 22, the Gantzes, made sure that a new plat was recorded as approved by SIPOA and

the Town of Seabrook Island showing the abandonment of the easement by SIPOA. (A 388; A. 381-386) The McLaughlins bought Lot 22 with the full assurance and belief that the easement had been abandoned. (A. 757, A. 763-764; A. 766, A. 388)

In submitting their house plans to SIPOA's Architectural Review Board, the plans were approved unanimously. (S.C. Court App., Opinion No. 5681)(A. 702, A. 83.) At the time of the submittal, SIPA advised that the McLaughlins were to assume all **financial** responsibility for the easement, which SIPOA had abandoned. (A. 83)

Prior to their building, the McLaughlins attempted to discuss issues with their neighbors to implement a plan for another drainage way as proposed by the Ralph's later retained expert engineer Robert George. (A. 246). This plan was not supported by the Ralphs, even though the testimony at trial proved that the Ralphs have always had standing water on their property during any and all rain events. (A. 22-31; A. 609)

The McLaughlins always believed that the easement had been abandoned. The Ralphs own expert witness as to title and the easement, Howard Yates, testified and confirmed at trial that the Forsberg Plat also became part of the McLaughlins' deed showing the abandonment of the easement (A. 21-31). Mr. Yates further testified that the easement was originally in favor of SIPOA. *Id.* Judge Young certainly consider these facts in his Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion for New Trial (A. 21-31). The SIPOA Board voted to abandon the easement on Lots 22 to 28 on Baywood Drive and SIPOA signed off on the Forsberg plat. (A. 388). The facts show that there was no consciousness of wrongdoing demonstrated by the Defendants at any time where the McLaughlins testified consistently that they relied on SIPOA and on the documents presented to them stating that the easement had been abandoned.

Judge Young further stated:

And punitive damages are out. I, again, don't think this is a case in which there has been a rise to clear and convincing evidence that he [Mr. McLaughlin] acted intentionally, knowing that he did not have the right to do that.

He knew it was disputed. He had been arguing about it for, apparently, a couple of years, but it didn't get resolved to his satisfaction, to anybody's satisfaction, so he moved forward with what he thought was his rights. I don't think that rises to the level of punitive damages, so you won't be able to argue punitive damages.

(A 805-806).

Yet, despite this clear evidence, the Court of Appeals has determined that there is sufficient evidence of willfulness and has turned this matter into what would essentially be a damages hearing upon remand.

Ultimately, the jury agreed with Judge Young and the McLaughlins, and, this Court of Appeals invaded that purview in spite of its own precedent and that of this Court which state there should be no invasion of the purview if there is ANY evidence to support the same. *See Curtis v. Blake*, 392 S.C. 494, 709 S.E.2d 79 (2011); *Bailey v. Peacock*, 318 S.C. 13, 455 S.E.2d 690 (1995); *Toole v. Toole*, 260 S.C. 235, 195 S.E.2d 389 (1973); *Green v. Fritz*, 356 S.C. 566, 590 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 2003); ; *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 477 S.E. 2d 715 (Ct. App. 1996); *Morris v. Jensen*, 309 S.C. 153, 420 S.E.2d 710 (Ct. App. 1992); *Umhoefer v. Bollinger*, 298 S.C. 221, 379 S.E.2d 296 (Ct. App. 1989). All of these facts not only support the jury's verdict but also Judge Young's well-reasoned and thorough Order denying the motion for a new trial (A. 22-31, A. 508-511)

**Question 2: Did the Court of Appeals err in expanding the Law of the Case doctrine as set forth in Judge Cooper's June 7, 2016, Order granting summary judgment to the Seabrook Island Property Owners Association which made a determination as to matters distinctly different and not contemplated in that Order and which were ultimately tried before the jury**

The Court of Appeals expanded Judge Cooper's Order granting summary judgment to the former third party defendant, the Seabrook Island Property Owners Association to an extent that it now establishes liability on the McLaughlins where that Order did not constitute a final ruling by and between the remaining parties as being conclusive.

On June 7, 2016, the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., entered his order granting the third party defendant SIPOA judgment as a matter of law as to the cause of action pending against it for indemnity by the McLaughlins. (A 5-12) Nowhere in his Order did Judge Cooper make a ruling as to what he quoted as being "trespass" by the McLaughlins on the Ralphs' property or any interest on what the McLaughlins thought was the abandoned drainage easement in favor of SIPOA. *Id.* The Order never once states that the McLaughlins committed any trespass. *Id.* The Order rules that the Ralphs' claim was not barred by the statute of limitation and that the claim against SIPOA for indemnification had to be dismissed as to a lack of reliance. In fact, Judge Cooper specifically omitted the claim by the Ralphs against the McLaughlins from his ruling having written the following:

However, regardless of the disposition of the Ralphs' claim against the McLaughlins, because the McLaughlins cannot produce evidence of an unambiguous promise or representation of SIPOA authorizing them to remove the pipe in December 2008, their third-party claim against SIPOA must be dismissed.

*Id.*

Judge Cooper wrote "...regardless of the disposition of the Ralphs' claim against the McLaughlins..." *Id.* He had to write that as there was no final determination of the issue of

trespass or the issue of willfulness that would lead to a submission of punitive damages to the jury at the time of trial.

Judge Cooper then went on to set forth the failure of the McLaughlins to meet the elements of promissory estoppel. *Id.* This is the extent of his ruling. It has no bearing on the issue of trespass or the McLaughlins' firmly held belief that the easement had been abandoned and they had a right to move forward based upon representations made to them.

Where separate judges issue un-appealed orders on distinctly different issues, the law of the case does not apply. (Opinion No. 5681). *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.D.2d 778, 785 (2013). The Order did not relate to the only issue in the case by and between the Ralphs and the McLaughlins: the alleged trespass. There is not one ruling in that order regarding trespass or the lawful or unlawful acts of the McLaughlins in relation to the Ralphs' property. It is simply inapplicable to the Ralphs' causes of action against the McLaughlins. It is not the law of the case as to these parties as it makes no ruling as to the matters brought by the Ralphs. In fact, at the same time, Judge Cooper denied both the Ralphs' and the McLaughlins' motions for summary judgment as to the issues between them. (A. 5-12). Judge Cooper noted in those orders "there are disputed issues of fact regarding Plaintiffs' claims" and "there are disputed issues of fact regarding Defendants' claims." *Id.* It was these very same disputed issues of fact that were tried before Judge Young and which were ultimately determined by the jury.

As Judge Young noted

Well, Judge Cooper's order between them....[b]etween the defendants and the property owners association is not binding on this jury's finding. I don't know how to put it any other way. We're having this argument, but I don't understand why we're having it necessarily. There's a genuine issue in my mind whether or not he was acting lawfully. I'm letting you go forward and argue to the jury that he was not acting lawfully....

(A. 803).

Judge Cooper's ruling was limited to the third party complaint only and the reliance of the McLaughlins in order to hold SIPOA liable. Period. The Court of Appeals extrapolated the ruling to make the ultimate decision of liability, which was an issue for the Jury to decide, and, which they decided. (A. 19) There is no determination of the trespass, as that is ultimately an issue of fact for the jury to determine. This was not an error requiring the Court of Appeals to overturn Judge Young's Order denying the motion for a new trial or to overturn the Jury's verdict. There was not a complete adjudication of the matters by Judge Cooper to make his ruling the law of the case where he also found there to be issues for trial by and between the Ralphs and the McLaughlins. (A. 5-18). Judge Cooper made no ruling as to the Ralphs' cause of action for trespass, and Judge Young properly allowed the jury to consider the McLaughlins' belief that they had the right to rely on SIPOA in building their house. Judge Cooper specifically excepted those claims in his Order. (A. 5-12)

Further, ultimately, the Ralphs won in the Circuit Court with the jury finding a trespass and awarding damages, albeit nominal damages. Judge Young made a charge to the jury on nominal damages, which charge was not objected to by the Ralphs. (A. 923, A. 508-511; A. 927; A. 21, A. 931-934)

Further, Judge Young rightfully granted a directly verdict as to punitive damages despite the Court of Appeals' determination that was an issue for the jury and not to be bootstrapped from Judge Cooper's Order as to SIPOA. A duty of inquiry as to easement rights would not have been something that the McLaughlins would have ever been charged with as the public record showed a plat with an abandonment of the easement as the latest plat in their chain of title (A 22-31; A 388, A. 381-386) This Court of Appeals now creates a duty on the part of purchasers to inquire as to the status of easements in a chain of title. (Op. No. 5681). The McLaughlins testified that they

were told by the Gantzes, their sellers, that SIPOA had abandoned the easement . (A. 375-379). The evidence further showed that the SIPOA voted to abandon the easement. (A. 81) SIPOA stated that the McLaughlins would bear **financial** responsibility for removing the drain pipe. (R. A. 83)(emphasis added) SIPOA approved their house plans. *Id.* They fully believed the easement was gone, abandoned, removed. Judge Young was in the courtroom for the entirety of the trial and, based upon that, he knew that there was no willful conduct on the part of the McLaughlins' despite the Plaintiffs' best attempts to paint them as willful and wonton in their conduct. Even their own experts conceded that the SIPOA had abandoned the easement and the new plat from Forsberg was part of their deed. (A. 715, A. 735, A. 558, A. 22-33)

By necessity, the McLaughlin's belief they were acting within their rights does preclude a finding of reckless behavior to allow for a submission to punitive damages. Unlike in the case of *Hollis v. Stonington Dev., LLC*, 394 S.C. 383 714, S.E.2d 904)(Ct. App. 2011), which the Court of Appeals referenced in its Opinion and which the McLaughlins referenced in their Brief, there was no consistent, repeated misconduct as to violations of regulations regarding intrusion into a neighbor's property and notice from governmental authorities as to the violations of regulations regarding stormwater. *Id.* In *Hollis*, there was notice given and the defendant there attempted to bully and threaten the plaintiff. *Id.* There was no testimony of bullying or threatening here. The McLaughlins built their house as they thought they were allowed to do so. The jury, which was not overburdened nor confused as demonstrated by their deliberations and specific jury form, was unlikely to have awarded any punitive damages anyway giving only a nominal damages award. (A. 928; A. 930-931).

As the Court of Appeals Opinion now stands, it has tried the case again in favor of the Ralphs so that only a damages hearing will take place, which is not substantial deference to the

jury's verdict in any way shape or form. *Green v. Fritz*, 356 S.C. 566, 590 S.E.2d 39 (Ct. App. 2003). It further goes against the sound discretion of the trial court in refusing to grant a new trial. *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 477 S.E. 2d 715 (Ct. App. 1996); *Morris v. Jensen*, 309 S.C. 153, 420 S.E.2d 710 (Ct. App. 1992); *Umhoefer v. Bollinger*, 298 S.C. 221, 379 S.E.2d 296 (Ct. App. 1989). Both of which go against the long standing precedent.