IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-002031

Richard Ralph and Eugenia Ralph..... Respondents,

v.

Paul Dennis McLaughlin and Susan Rode McLaughlin..... Petitioners.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Ainsley F. Tillman, SC Bar No. 70551
Ian S. Ford, SC Bar No. 12463
FORD WALLACE THOMSON LLC
715 King St., Charleston, South Carolina 29403
(843) 277-2011
*Attorneys for Respondents Richard Ralph
and Eugenia Ralph*

RECEIVED

JAN 06 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Petitioners have failed to identify any basis for review of the Court of Appeals' decision.

Certiorari review is the exception, not the rule; it "is not a matter of right, but of sound judicial discretion, and will be granted only where there are special and important reasons." Rule 242(b), SCACR; *see also, State v. Lyles*, 381 S.C. 442, 443-44, 673 S.E.2d 811, 812 (2009) (stressing that a writ of certiorari is available "only where special reasons justify the exercise of that power."). The Appellate Court Rules identify limited circumstances which might merit this Court's exercise of its discretion, including where novel questions of law are at issue, or where there is a dissenting opinion to the Court of Appeals' decision, or where there is a conflict between a decision by the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals' opinion. Rule 242(b)(1-3), SCACR.

In this case, there are no special or important reasons warranting this Court's review of the Court of Appeals' well-reasoned opinion, which correctly applies long-standing South Carolina law to the facts. The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is unanimous; no new or novel questions of law were before that Court, nor distinguished in its opinion; the McLaughlins do not identify any conflict between the Court's decision and any prior decision of the Supreme Court. Although the McLaughlins petitioned for rehearing and suggested rehearing *en banc*, both the petition and suggestion were rejected by the Court of Appeals. In short, the McLaughlins' *Petition for a Writ of Certiorari* is a diatribe of discontent, which fails to identify any compelling reason for discretionary review by this Court. Therefore, this Court should deny the McLaughlins' *Petition*, and

the matter should be remanded to the trial court in accordance with the Court of Appeals' decision.

II. The Court of Appeals' unanimous decision properly reversed the trial court.

The Court of Appeals correctly remanded this case to the trial court for a new trial on compensatory and punitive damages. This disposition was based on the Court of Appeals' determination that, properly, no question of fact existed for the jury as to liability, nor as to the question of easement abandonment—holdings for which the McLaughlins apparently do not seek certiorari review. Further, the Court of Appeals correctly found that the trial court applied the wrong legal standard in directing a verdict to the McLaughlins on punitive damages. Finally, the Court of Appeals did not err, and this Court's review is not necessary, as to the Court of Appeals' application of the law of the case doctrine to bar the McLaughlins from making arguments to the trial court directly contrary to the findings in a previous order in the same case.

A. The trial court applied the wrong legal standard in evaluating the McLaughlins' motion for directed verdict on punitive damages.

The Petitioners' first argument for certiorari is all about the facts. The issue before the Court of Appeals, however, was not one of fact. Rather, it was a question of whether the trial court applied the correct *standard* to the disputed facts. The Court of Appeals properly found that it did not.

In ruling on the McLaughlins' motion for a directed verdict as to punitive damages, the trial court erroneously weighed the evidence. This mistake is readily apparent in the block quote that Petitioners cite on page 5 of their *Petition for a Writ of Certiorari*, where the trial court stated: "I, again, don't think this is a case in which there

has been a rise to clear and convincing evidence that he acted intentionally . . . ;” the trial court further stressed that it did not “think [the McLaughlins were] acting malevolently, certainly not to the level of clear and convincing” (Appendix p. 805, line 23 - p. 806; p. 799, lines 4-6) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals correctly found that, in so ruling, “the circuit court invaded the jury’s province by improperly weighing the evidence.” Op. 5681, at p. 18, citing *Fairchild v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 398 S.C. 90, 99, 727 S.E.2d 407, 411 (2012) (“It is not the duty of the [circuit] court to weigh the testimony in ruling on a motion for a directed verdict.”).

The proper standard, applied correctly by the Court of Appeals, is that when it rules “on a directed verdict motion as to punitive damages, the circuit court must view the evidence and the inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Hollis v. Stonington Dev. LLC*, 394 S.C. 383, 393-394, 714 S.E.2d 904, 909-910 (Ct. App. 2011), quoting *Mishoe v. QHG of Lake City, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 195, 621 S.E.2d 363 (Ct. App. 2005); see also *Fairchild*, 398 S.C. at 99, 727 S.E.2d at 411 (“In reviewing a ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. . . . A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference.”) (internal citations omitted). “The issue of punitive damages must be submitted to the jury if more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence as to whether the defendant’s behavior was reckless, willful, or wanton.” *Id.* The trial court failed to apply this standard, in a ruling controlled by error of law.

The Court of Appeals, examining the Record and the trial transcript, properly found that a jury question existed on punitive damages, because more than one reasonable inference could be drawn as to whether the McLaughlins acted recklessly in destroying the drainage pipe and no-build area easements. *See, e.g., Rhodes v. Lawrence*, 279 S.C. 96, 97-98, 302 S.E.2d 343, 344 (1983) (remanding for a new trial after determining the circuit court erred in granting a directed verdict on punitive damages). This determination by the Court of Appeals did not in any way invade the jury's purview, as the McLaughlins strangely contend in their *Petition*, because the question of punitive damages was not ever given to the jury.

The Petitioners have not identified any special or important reason for this Court to review the Court of Appeals' determination on this legal issue.

B. The Court of Appeals correctly found that the McLaughlins' inability to rely on any representation by SIPOA was the law of the case.

Petitioners' characterization of the Court of Appeals' decision on the issue of the Law of the Case Doctrine is misleading. The Court of Appeals did not, as Petitioners suggest, find that Judge Cooper's ruling established liability;¹ instead, the Court of Appeals correctly found that Judge Cooper's ruling finally resolved, as the facts and law of the case, that the McLaughlins had no right to rely on the SIPOA when they made their decision to destroy the easements at issue.

It is a fundamental rule of law that an un-appealed order is the law of the case. *Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Hous. Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 525 S.E.2d 869 (2000), *citing ML-*

¹ Entirely apart from Judge Cooper's order, the Court of Appeals found that liability was established as a matter of law, as further set forth in Section III, below.

Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P. v. Deloitte & Touche, 489 S.E.2d 470, 327 S.C. 238 (1997) (“[An] unappealed ruling is the law of the case.”), citing *In re: Morrison*, 468 S.E.2d 651, 321 S.C. 370 (1996). This is because the failure to challenge a ruling is considered an abandonment of the issue, which precludes subsequent reconsideration of settled matters. *Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 432 A.E.2d 482 (1993); see also *Anderson v. Short*, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996) (stating that where a decision is based on more than one ground the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds, because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case). The law of the case applies both to those issues explicitly decided, as well as to those issues which were necessarily decided in the prior ruling. *Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 328 S.C. 51, 492 S.E.2d 62 (1997). The law of the case doctrine is different from the doctrine of res judicata, in that the law of the case doctrine applies only to subsequent proceedings in the same litigation, whereas the latter acts to prevent re-litigation of specific claims actually decided in a prior suit. See *Lifshultz Fast Freight, Inc. v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Guerard*, 334 S.C. 244, 513 S.E.2d 96 (1999); see also *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) (“Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were . . . not raised on appeal, but should have been”); see also *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 572, 776 S.E.2d 397, 403 (Ct. App. 2015) (“[A] decision on an issue of law made at one stage of a case becomes binding precedent to be followed in subsequent stages of the same litigation.”).

This rule makes sense. A legal action simply cannot have one legal finding early in the case (with the predicate factual findings) and then permit a contradictory finding

later in the case. With each final trial court ruling, the parties are given direction by the court and must proceed accordingly. If a party believes the court is in error, then that party has the responsibility of preserving and pursuing the issue by appealing the decision.

In their arguments before the trial court, the McLaughlins persistently contended that their liability to the Ralphs should be discounted because they had relied on SIPOA when they destroyed the easements. According to the McLaughlins at trial, their justified reliance on SIPOA negated any financial responsibility to the Ralphs, and it invalidated any argument as to punitive damages. The Court of Appeals correctly found that these arguments were inappropriate because they were directly contrary to Judge Cooper's previous ruling in the same case:

When he issued his Order granting summary judgment as to the McLaughlins' reliance claims against the SIPOA, Judge Cooper made detailed findings of disputed fact and law, that were applicable to and binding on both the Ralphs and the McLaughlins,² including that:

As a practical matter, there is no evidence to show that SIPOA has ever made any promises to the McLaughlins. Accordingly, as a matter of law,

there is simply no genuine issue of material fact that the McLaughlins reasonably relied on the unambiguous acts, representations, and writings of SIPOA or otherwise reasonably based their decision to remove the pipe in 2008, which is what prompted the lawsuit brought by Plaintiffs.

In fact, the record is completely clear that there was absolutely no "unambiguous representation" from SIPOA that the McLaughlins' only responsibility regarding the pipe was that it had to pay to remove the pipe.

² Within the same Order, Judge Cooper ruled on the McLaughlins' and SIPOA's statute of limitations argument against the Ralphs. (Appendix pp. 10-11).

Rather, the entire history of the interactions between SIPOA indicate the opposite—that the McLaughlins had to assume all responsibility for the disposition of the pipe. Indeed, by their own admission, (1) the McLaughlins blamed SIPOA for leaving them in “limbo” in 2008 prior to their removal of the pipe, (2) rejected SIPOA’s proposals to resolve the matter prior to the McLaughlins unilateral decision to remove the pipe, and (3) were defendants in a lawsuit filed by the SIPOA to stop them from removing the pipe. For these reasons, the McLaughlins simply cannot prevail on their third-party claim against SIPOA as a matter of law.

(Appendix pp. 5-12) (emphasis added).

These findings of fact and law were final, granting summary judgment to the SIPOA, and they could have been—but were not—appealed by the McLaughlins. Nonetheless, the trial court improperly allowed the McLaughlins to successfully argue the very opposite of Judge Cooper’s rulings, in both their directed verdict motions³ and to the jury.⁴

³ In arguing for a directed verdict as to the issue of punitive damages, the McLaughlins contended:

Your Honor, we also don’t think the standard for punitive damages has been reached. You heard Mr. McLaughlin testify that he was relying on the FOA when they built their house. There was no wrongdoing of which he was conscious that has been proven by clear and convincing evidence as required for punitive damages, so we would ask Your Honor to strike the punitive damages for the lack of proof and the lack of ability to comply with the case law regarding punitive damages.

(A. p. 777, line 23-p. 778, line 6).

⁴ See, e.g., the McLaughlins’ opening argument: “nothing gets built on Seabrook Island or Kiawah Island and certain places like that unless you have the approval of your property owner’s association . . . and eventually . . . their plans were approved to build their home where it’s currently situated in the former no-build area . . . and I think that’s important for the testimony to bear out, that [the McLaughlins] went through a lot of time and effort with the property owners association to build in this no-build area with the abandoned easement.” (A. p. 544, line 22-p.545, line 11).

Because the McLaughlins never appealed Judge Cooper's findings of fact and determinations of law, the Court of Appeals properly held that his order became the law of the case and should have been binding in the subsequent trial of the same case. *ML- Lee Acquisition Fund, L.P.*, 327 S.C. at 241, 489 S.E.2d at 472; *see also Ashby v. WeCare Distributors, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 526, 528, 347 S.E.2d 123, 125 (Ct. App. 1986) ("Where no exception is taken to findings of fact or conclusions of law, they become the law of the case."). Because the Court of Appeals' decision on this issue is in complete accordance with precedent, there is no compelling reason for this Court to grant the McLaughlins' request for certiorari review.

III. There are independent sustaining grounds on which to uphold the Court of Appeals decision, making certiorari review unwarranted.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's decision on the Ralphs' directed verdict motion as to liability, as well as on their motion for new trial, finding that no question of fact existed as to whether the McLaughlins' destruction of the easements constituted trespass as a matter of law. In so doing, the Court of Appeals applied long-standing precedent to find that the Ralphs had a property interest in the drainage easements, because an owner who takes title to property with reference to a plat acquires an interest in the easements that appear on that plat. Op. 5681 at p. 20, *citing Blue Ridge Realty Co. v. Williamson*, 247 S.C. 112, 118, 145 S.E.2d 922, 924 (1965) ("[W]here a deed

See also, e.g., the McLaughlins' closing argument, which reiterated: "The McLaughlins, of course, relied on the representation of their sellers and the representation of the Seabrook Island Property Owners Association that they could build." (A. p. 904, lines 21-24); "those letters confirm what the McLaughlins relied on, that the easement had been abandoned, they could remove the pipe, they could build in the no-build area." (*Id.* at p. 906, line 5); "[The McLaughlins] relied exclusively on the POA to get their house built." (*Id.* at 909, lines 12-14).

describes land as is shown on a certain plat, such plat becomes a part of the deed.”); *Carolina Land Co., Inc. v. Bland*, 265 S.C. 98, 105, 217 S.E.2d 16, 19 (1975) (“[T]he purchaser of lots with reference to the plat of the subdivision acquire[s] every easement, privilege[,] and advantage shown upon said plat”); *see also Corbin v. Cherokee Realty Co.*, 229 S.C. 16, 24, 91 S.E.2d 542, 546 (1956) (“Such purchasers acquire[] every easement, privilege[,] and advantage [that] the plat represent[s] as belonging to them.”).

Thus, the Court of Appeals properly held that the Ralphs had a property interest in the drainage easement and no-build area that appeared on the plats by which both the Ralphs and the McLaughlins took title. Further, the Court of Appeals correctly followed South Carolina law to hold that the SIFOA was powerless to unilaterally abandon the Ralphs’ interest in those easements, which both benefitted and burdened theirs and the McLaughlins’ property. *Op.* 5681 at pp. 20-22; *Bland*, 265 S.C. at 106, 217 S.E.2d at 20 (“Such an easement is deemed a part of the property to which the grantee is entitled and of which he cannot be divested except by due process of law.”); *also citing Corbin*, 229 S.C. at 24, 91 S.E.2d at 546 (“The Florenza Company could not without the consent of [the owner] change the location or width of [the easement].”). Finally, the Court of Appeals correctly found that the Forsberg plat—which appeared only in the McLaughlins’ chain of title—did not in any way affect the Ralphs’ property interest in the easement. *Id.*, *citing Bland*, 265 S.C. at 107, 217 S.E.2d at 20 (“The fact that a new plat of the property in question was made did not destroy the easement created on the [original] plat.”). Further, the McLaughlins admitted that they dug up the drainage pipe, destroyed the easement, and

built their home in the restricted no-build area, without permission or license from the Ralphs. Op. 5681 at p. 19; *see also* A. p. 747, line 18-p. 748, line 10; A. p. 868, lines 20-24.

Because there was no question of fact as to trespass and abandonment, the Court of Appeals properly found that the trial court's decisions on the Ralphs' motion for directed verdict and motion for a new trial were controlled by errors of law; therefore, reversal was appropriate. Petitioners have not challenged this determination by the Court of Appeals, and it is independent grounds for this Court's affirmance of the decision.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, and because the McLaughlins have not identified any special or important reason for this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision, the Ralphs respectfully request that this Court deny the McLaughlins' *Petition for a Writ of Certiorari*.